

TUBERCULOSIS IN THE AMERICAS **Regional Report 2020**





World Health Organization

TUBERCULOSIS IN THE AMERICAS Regional Report 2020

Washington, D.C. 2021



Tuberculosis in the Americas. Regional Report 2020

© Pan American Health Organization, 2021

ISBN: 978-92-75-12446-8 (print) ISBN: 978-92-75-12447-5 (pdf)

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO license (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this license, this work may be copied, redistributed, and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided the new work is issued using the same or equivalent Creative Commons license and it is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) endorses any specific organization, product, or service. Use of the PAHO logo is not permitted.

Adaptations: If this work is adapted, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This is an adaptation of an original work by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author(s) of the adaptation and are not endorsed by PAHO."

Translation: If this work is translated, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). PAHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation."

Suggested citation. Tuberculosis in the Americas. Regional Report 2020. Washington, D.C.: Pan American Health Organization; 2021. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275124475.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://iris.paho.org.

Sales, rights, and licensing. To purchase PAHO publications, write to sales@paho.org. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, visit http://www.paho.org/permissions.

Third-party materials. If material that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures, or images, is reused from this work, it is the user's responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party owned material or component from this work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of PAHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by PAHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by PAHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall PAHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

CDE/HT/2021

CONTENTS

Ac	knowledgements
Ac	ronymsvi
Inti	roduction1
1.	Progress towards the targets of the End TB Strategy
2.	Mortality and incidence of tuberculosis
3.	TB diagnosis
4.	Drug-resistant tuberculosis
5.	TB/HIV co-infection
6 .	Comorbidity of tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus
7.	Vulnerable populations and risk factors. 20
	7.1. Persons deprived of liberty
	7.2. Indigenous populations
	7.3. Children under 15 years of age 22
	7.4. Risk factors for tuberculosis
8 .	Tuberculosis preventive therapy 25
9 .	Tuberculosis treatment outcomes 27
10.	Towards the elimination of tuberculosis in the Americas
11.	Funding to end tuberculosis
12.	Recommendations to accelerate progress towards ending tuberculosis in the Americas 32
An	nex. Priority indicators by country

iv

FIGURES

Figure 1.	Percentage change in tuberculosis cases reported in 2020 compared with 2019	2
Figure 2.	Trends and forecasts of the estimated number of deaths from tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2000–2035	4
Figure 3.	Trends and forecasts of the estimated tuberculosis incidence rate, Region of the Americas, 2000-2035	4
Figure 4.	Estimated tuberculosis incidence rate, Region of the Americas, 2019	8
Figure 5.	Trends in new cases and relapses of tuberculosis, estimated and reported, Region of the Americas, 2000–2019	9
Figure 6.	Estimated tuberculosis mortality rate, Region of the Americas, 2010-2019	10
Figure 7.	Centers performing rapid molecular diagnostic tests, Region of the Americas, 2019	11
Figure 8.	Proportion of drug susceptibility testing, Region of the Americas, 2017-2019	12
Figure 9.	Estimated number of cases of multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019	14
Figure 10.	Estimated cases of multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, reported and in treatment, Region of the Americas, 2016-2017	15
Figure 11.	Proportion of reported tuberculosis cases with documented human immunodeficiency virus status, Region of the Americas, 2019	16
Figure 12.	Proportion of estimated, reported, and treated cases of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection, Region of the Americas, 2017-2019	18
Figure 13.	Proportion of cases with diabetes mellitus out of total reported tuberculosis cases, Region of the Americas, 2019	19
Figure 14.	Percentage of tuberculosis cases reported in vulnerable populations, Region of the Americas, 2019	20
Figure 15.	Percentage of tuberculosis cases reported in persons deprived of liberty, Region of the Americas, 2019	21
Figure 16.	Percentage of persons with tuberculosis who identify as indigenous, Region de las Americas, 2019	22

Figure 17.	Percentage of detection of tuberculosis cases in children under 15 years of age, Region of the Americas, 2019	23
Figure 18.	Contacts under 5 years of age who are being tested for tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019	23
Figure 19.	Percentage of tuberculosis cases reported in people with risk factors, Region of the Americas, 2019	24
Figure 20.	Proportion of contacts under 5 years of age studied who were started on preventive therapy, Region of the Americas, 2019	25
Figure 21.	Tuberculosis preventive therapy in persons living with human immunodeficiency virus, Region of the Americas, 2017-2019	26
Figure 22.	Outcome of tuberculosis treatment in selected cohorts, Region of the Americas, 2019	28
Figure 23.	Path towards tuberculosis elimination	29
Figure 24.	Planned funding sources for tuberculosis prevention and control, Region of the Americas, 2015-2020	31

TABLES

Table 1.	High-level global indicators of the End TB Strategy in the Americas	5
Table 2.	Priority indicators of the End TB Strategy, 2019	5
Table 3.	Tuberculosis in la Region of the Americas, 2019	6
Table 4.	Countries with high tuberculosis burdens, Region of the Americas, 2019	7
Table 5.	Countries with the highest estimated burden of multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019	. 13
Table 6.	Countries with the highest number of estimated cases of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection, Region of the Americas, 2019	. 17
Table 7.	Countries with a low incidence of tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019	. 30

v

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was prepared by the Regional Tuberculosis Team of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) and the Regional Advisor on Strategic Information of the HIV, Hepatitis, Tuberculosis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Unit of PAHO's Department of Communicable Diseases and Environmental Determinants of Health.

vi

Information analysis was carried out in close collaboration with the team of epidemiologists of the PAHO/ World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Centre for Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis at the Emilio Coni National Institute of Respiratory Diseases in Argentina. Special thanks to Hugo Fernández, who coordinated the work at the Collaborating Center.

Thanks as well to the national tuberculosis programs of the countries of the Region for the information provided through the WHO tuberculosis data collection system. Moreover, we would like to thank Hazim Timimi, of the WHO Global Tuberculosis Program, for his constant support in consolidating and accessing data for the Americas.

This publication was made possible thanks to the support of the Office of Sustainable Development, Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean, U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) under Grant No. AID-OAA-IO-16-00.003. The opinions expressed here are solely the authors' and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of USAID.

ACRONYMS

DM	diabetes mellitus
DST	drug susceptibility testing
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
MDR/RR-TB	multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis
PAHO	Pan American Health Organization
RR-TB	rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
ТВ	tuberculosis
USD	dollars of the United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization
XDR-TB	extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) in the Region of the Americas continued to be a public health problem in 2019; it is estimated that there were 290,000 cases of all forms of the disease that year. Despite a slow decline in the number of deaths in recent years, TB incidence continued to rise slightly. Notwithstanding advances in the introduction and expansion of rapid molecular testing, the detection gap remained at around 52,000 cases, which favors continuity in the chain of transmission of the tuberculosis bacillus.

Case detection of drug-resistant TB and co-infection with human immunodeficiency virus (TB/HIV) showed no progress in 2019, and cases of comorbidity with diabetes continued to be detected, as well. Information on preventive therapy remained limited, and treatment outcomes did not change favorably.

The TB situation in the Region reflects the persistence of social determinants and risk factors that most directly affect vulnerable populations. However, some countries in the Region are closer to eliminating the disease as a public health problem. Efforts by national programs, most of which have their own resources, must be accelerated to meet the targets of the End TB Strategy and of the international commitments made by countries.

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first quarter of 2020, the provision of health services in general, including TB services, was disrupted by lockdown measures, the population's fear of being infected in health services, and the redeployment of staff to pandemic-related care. This has affected TB prevention and control interventions in every country, threatening to reverse the progress made towards meeting international targets. Furthermore, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the economy and on poverty levels represents the loss of more than a decade of progress, which will exacerbate the social determinants of TB.

Among the 28 countries that reported preliminary data, the Americas saw an average decrease in TB case reporting of 14.8% in 2020 compared with 2019 (from 225,029 to 191,777 TB cases year-on-year). The percentage of decline varied from one country to another: in some cases it was high, such as in the Dominican Republic and the Bahamas, which recorded decreases of more than 35% (figure 1).



Figure 1. Percentage change in tuberculosis cases reported in 2020 compared with 2019

Source: Based on data reported by countries to the WHO Global TB Data Collection System.

1. Progress towards the targets of the End TB Strategy

The End TB Strategy aims to end the global TB epidemic, and is linked to the targets of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), with three high-level global indicators (table 1).

3

Global indicators	Baseline	Current situation	Milestones		SDG targets	End TB targets
	2015	2019	2020	2025	2030	2035
Reduction in number of TB deaths,	24,900	22,900	35%	75%	90%	95%
compared with 2015			16,200	6,200	2,500	1,250
Reduction in TB incidence rate,	27.5	28.6	20%	50%	80%	90%
compared with 2015		28.0	22.0	13.8	5.5	2.8
Percentage of affected households facing catastrophic costs due to TB	N.A.	N.A.	0	0	0	0

Table 1. High-level global indicators of the End TB Strategy in the Americas

Note: rate per 100,000 inhabitants. N.A.: not available; SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals; TB: tuberculosis. *Source:* World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Between 2000 and 2019, TB deaths decreased by an average of 2.1% per year; to reach (by 2035) the reduction target of 95% compared with 2015, the annual rate of decline must be 4% (figure 2).





SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals; TB: tuberculosis. Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020.

Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

The estimated TB incidence rate dropped by an average of only 1.6% annually between 2000 and 2018, and increased slightly in 2019. To achieve the 2020 target, the rate of decline should have been 23.1% (figure 3).





SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals; TB: tuberculosis.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Most countries still do not have information on the percentage of households facing catastrophic costs due to TB. By 2019, three countries in the Region, following WHO recommendations, had initiated national surveys to monitor this indicator; in 2020, other countries began preparing protocols for their own surveys.

5

Regarding the 10 priority indicators of the End TB Strategy (table 2), TB treatment coverage and the percentage of TB patients who know their HIV status are the indicators showing the best values in 2019, with 80.0%, compared with the target of 100% by 2025. However, some indicators—such as treatment coverage with new TB drugs (12.0%), treatment coverage of latent TB infection in people living with HIV (26.0%), and the percentage of new TB patients who were diagnosed using the rapid tests recommended by WHO (25.0%)—still show very low values for 2019.

INDICATORS	2019 FIGURES	TARGET FOR 2025	
TB treatment coverage	TB treatment coverage		
Treatment success rate	New cases and relapses (2018 cohort)	76.0%	≥90%
	MDR/RR-TB (2017 cohort)	59.6%	
Percentage of families facing catastrophic TB co	osts	—	—
Percentage of new and relapsed TB patients dia recommended by WHO	25.0%	≥90%	
	Children under 5 years old	59.0%	≥90%
LTBI treatment coverage	People living with HIV	26.0%	≥90%
Contact tracing coverage		68.7%	≥90%
Coverage of TB patients with DST results		40.0%	100%
Treatment coverage, new TB drugs	12.0%	≥90%	
Percentage of TB patients who know their HIV s	80.0%	100%	
TB fatality rate		7.0%	≤6%

Table 2. Priority indicators of the End TB Strategy, 2019

Note: country indicators detailed in the Annex.

LTBI: latent tuberculosis infection; WHO: World Health Organization; DST: drug susceptibility testing; TB, tuberculosis; MDR/RR-TB:

multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020.

Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.



The COVID-19 pandemic has greatly jeopardized achievement of the End TB Strategy targets. Efforts need to be accelerated to achieve a reduction in the number of TB deaths and cases, and data on catastrophic costs need to be made available. Likewise, it is necessary to redouble efforts to continue improving TB programmatic indicators. The multisectoral accountability framework offers an opportunity to monitor and accelerate progress.

2. Mortality and incidence of tuberculosis

WHO estimated that in 2019 there were 290,000 new TB cases and relapses in the Region of the Americas. This figure represents an increase from 2018, when an estimated 282,000 cases were reported, and corresponds to 3% of the global burden of 9.9 million cases. In 2019, an estimated 10% of patients in the Americas had TB/HIV co-infection, and 3.7% had multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (MDR/RR-TB) (table 3).

Table 3. Tuberculosis in the Region of the Americas, 2019

	Estimated no. cases	Estimated no. deaths
All forms of TB	290,000 (269,000 - 311,000)	22,900 (22,000 – 24,600)
TB/HIV	29,000 (27,000 – 32,000)	5,900 (5,200 – 6,600)
MDR/RR-TB	11,000 (9,200 – 12,000)	1,000 (870 - 1,140)

TB: tuberculosis; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus. *Source:* World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

In 2019, an estimated 88.1% of TB cases in the Americas were in 12 countries. Just over half were concentrated in only three countries: Brazil (33.1%), Peru (13.4%), and Mexico (10.3%) (table 4 and figure 4).

Country	Estimated no. cases	Percentage	Estimated rate
Brazil	96,000	33.1%	45.5
Peru	39,000	13.4%	120.0
Mexico	30,000	10.3%	23.5
Colombia	19,000	6.6%	35.8
Haiti	18,000	6.2%	168.7
Argentina	13,000	4.5%	29.0
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	13,000	4.5%	45.6
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	12,000	4.1%	104.2
Ecuador	7,900	2.7%	45.5
El Salvador	3,800	1.3%	58.9
Paraguay	3,300	1.1%	46.8
Guyana	620	0.2%	79.2
High-burden total	255,620	88.1%	46.5
Total in the Region of the Americas	290,000	100.0%	28.7

Table 4	Countries w	vith high	tuberculosis	hurdens	Region	of the /	Americas	2019
1aule 4.	Countries w	nun mgn	luberculosis	buruens,	NEGIUII	UI LIE	Americas,	2013

Note: High-burden countries are those with an estimated absolute number of TB cases greater than 10,000 per year, and those with an incidence rate of more than 45 per 100,000 population.

8



Figure 4. Estimated tuberculosis incidence rate, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: estimated rate per 100,000 inhabitants.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

The incident cases (new and relapsed) of TB reported in 2019 on the continent were 237,506, representing 82% of the total estimated cases. The gap between estimated and reported TB cases, which was 52,494 cases, has not narrowed in recent years (figure 5). This gap is greater in the population under 14 years of age, in which only 57% of estimated cases in boys and 61% of estimated cases in girls have been reported.

The case reporting rate has remained unchanged over the past eight years: In 2019, 23.4 TB cases per 100,000 population were reported, compared with 23.5 in 2011. Preliminary data for 2020 point to a drop in case reporting due to COVID-19, and these data will have to be analyzed differently than in previous years.





TB: tuberculosis.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

The estimated TB mortality rate in the Region of the Americas has fallen from 2.20 deaths per 100,000 population in 2010 to 1.70 in 2019. The decrease in the estimated mortality rate in patients with TB/HIV co-infection in the same period has been smaller, from 0.68 to 0.58 per 100,000 population (figure 6). The estimated lethality of TB is 7% in the Region of the Americas, compared with 14% worldwide.



Figure 6. Estimated tuberculosis mortality rate, Region of the Americas, 2010–2019

Note: rates per 100,000 population.

TB: tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020.

Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

The gaps between estimated and reported cases indicate that it is necessary to promote screening and early detection in order to cut the chain of transmission and reduce mortality.

11

3. TB diagnosis

The availability of rapid molecular tests in the Region has risen significantly: The number of centers performing them rose from 11 in 2011 to 591 in 2019 (figure 7). The percentage of TB cases diagnosed with these tests rose from 13.1% in 2017 to 25.0% in 2019. However, smear testing remains the most widely used method for the initial diagnosis of TB in the Region of the Americas: There are currently 12,223 centers that perform such tests, compared with 591 that use rapid molecular tests.

The expansion of rapid molecular methods depends on many factors, including political decisions; guideline changes; updated and disseminated algorithms, which generate demand from medical staff; sustainable financial resources to purchase cartridges and maintain equipment; the efficiency of samples transport, which ensures access to testing; and connectivity, enabling timely notification of results.



Figure 7. Centers performing rapid molecular diagnostic tests, Region of the Americas, 2019

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Universal access to drug susceptibility testing (DST) is key to improving the detection of MDR/RR-TB cases in the Region. In 2019, first-line DST was conducted for 40.9% of new cases, and 49.2% of cases already treated. Between 2018 and 2019, the percentage of patients with first-line DST showed practically no increase. Only 52.4% of MDR/RR-TB cases underwent second-line DST for quinolones (figure 8). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, difficulties have arisen in operating TB laboratories because of staff shortages; therefore, in 2020 a reduction in this indicator can be expected.

12



Figure 8. Proportion of drug susceptibility testing, Region of the Americas, 2017–2019

Note: New cases with an unknown history of previous treatment are included. DST: drug susceptibility testing. *Source*: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131..



The increase in rapid molecular testing centers in recent years, and the recent acquisition of molecular diagnostic equipment for COVID-19, could ramp up the capacity for diagnosing TB with these kinds of rapid tests, incorporated into multipurpose platforms.

13

4. Drug-resistant tuberculosis

In 2019, 10 countries in the Region accounted for 90% of all estimated cases of MDR/RR-TB. Peru and Brazil were the most affected, with 28% and 24% of all cases estimated, respectively. The highest rates of MDR/RR-TB were reported by Peru (9.5) and Haiti (5.0) (table 5 and figure 9).

Country	Number of MDR/RR-TB cases	Percentage	Rate
Peru	3,100	28%	9.5
Brazil	2,600	24%	1.2
Mexico	970	9%	0.8
Colombia	610	6%	1.2
Argentina	590	5%	1.3
Haiti	560	5%	5.0
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	370	3%	1.3
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	350	3%	3.0
Ecuador	230	2%	1.3
Dominican Republic	220	2%	2.0
Countries with the highest number of MDR/RR-TB cases	9,600	87%	1.8
Region of the Americas	11,000	100%	1.1

Table 5.Countries with the highest estimated burden of multidrug-resistant or
rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: rates per 100,000 population.

MDR/RR-TB: multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020.

Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131. .





Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Of the total reported cases of MDR/RR-TB, 87% started treatment in 2019, a percentage similar to that of the previous two years (figure 10). Most of these patients did not receive shorter all-oral treatments, which are more effective, safer, and recommended by WHO.





15

MDR/RR-TB: multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis. Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

In 2019, 13 countries in the Region reported a total of 138 cases of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB). Peru reported almost two-thirds of this total, with 89 cases (64.4%), followed by Ecuador, with 13 cases (9.4%), and Brazil, with 12 cases (8.6%). These figures were similar to those of 2018, when 137 cases of XDR-TB were reported.



WHO estimated that in 2019 there were 11,000 cases of drug-resistant tuberculosis in the Region of the Americas. Of the 5,003 cases (45.4%) diagnosed, 87% started treatment. Greater efforts are needed to achieve the 100% target recommended by WHO.

5. TB/HIV co-infection

In 2019, the proportion of reported TB cases in the Americas with documented HIV testing was 80%, which is lower than the recommended 100%. Most countries were above the regional average, but some—such as Argentina, Canada, and Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)—have large gaps to fill or problems with their records (figure 11).

16



Figure 11. Proportion of reported tuberculosis cases with documented human immunodeficiency virus status, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: Only countries reporting 10 or more TB cases are included. TB: tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus. *Source:* World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

In 2019, there were an estimated 29,700 cases of HIV-associated TB (11% of total estimated TB cases), of which 20,132 (68%) were reported. The countries with the highest number of estimated cases of TB/HIV co-infection were Brazil (11,000 cases), Mexico (3,500 cases), Haiti (3,000 cases), and Peru (2,400 cases). The highest rates of TB/HIV co-infection were found in Haiti (26.7 per 100,000 population) and the Dominican Republic (10.2 per 100,000 population) (table 6).

17

Country	Cases of TB/HIV co-infection	Co-infected cases in the Region	TB/HIV co- infection rate	Cases in ART			
Brazil	11,000	38%	5.2	49%			
Mexico	3,500	12%	2.7	68%			
Haiti	3,000	10%	26.6	81%			
Peru	2,400	8%	7.4	55%			
Colombia	2,100	7%	4.2	56%			
Ecuador	1,100	4%	6.3	100%			
Dominican Republic	1,100	4%	10.2	75%			
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	1,000	3%	3.5	82%			
Argentina	800	3%	1.8	4.7%			
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	580	2%	5.0	_			
Countries with the highest burden of TB/HIV co-infection	26,580	92%	4.9	-			
Region of the Americas	29,700	100%	2.9	58%			

Table 6.Countries with the highest number of estimated cases of tuberculosis and human
immunodeficiency virus co-infection, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: rates per 100,000 population. ART: antiretroviral therapy; TB: tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus. Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240013131.

In 2019, only 58% of reported cases with TB/HIV co-infection received ART (figure 12). This is a very concerning figure, given the recommendation to provide this therapy to 100% of these cases.

To tackle TB/HIV co-infection, it is necessary to achieve closer coordination between TB and HIV programs and to implement TB/HIV collaborative activities, which have been recommended for the past several years.





ART: antiretroviral therapy; TB: tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.



Less than 80% of TB patients are screened for HIV, and only 58% of reported cases with TB/HIV co-infection received ART in 2019. Coordination between TB and HIV programs must be strengthened, to ensure 100% achievement of these indicators.

6. Comorbidity of tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus

Among TB patients who were tested for diabetes mellitus (DM) or who had already been diagnosed with DM, 10% had TB/DM comorbidity. The highest percentages of comorbidity corresponded to Aruba (50%), Mexico (29%), and Puerto Rico (28%) (figure 13). Detection of this comorbidity has been increasing in different countries, and this demands a joint approach involving both TB and DM programs.

19



Figure 13. Proportion of cases with diabetes mellitus out of total reported tuberculosis cases, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: Includes people living with TB who were tested for DM or who already knew their DM status. DM: diabetes mellitus. *Source*: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

7. Vulnerable populations and risk factors

Populations vulnerable to TB include people in poverty, persons deprived of liberty (PDL), indigenous populations, homeless people, and migrants, among others (figure 14).

20





Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240013131.

7.1. Persons deprived of liberty

Prisons are a high-risk location for TB transmission, due to overcrowding, and infrastructure and hygiene problems. The incidence of TB among PDL is much higher than that of the general population in several countries; indeed, PDL represent 44.1% of all TB cases in El Salvador, and 16.1% in Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) (figure 15).

21

Figure 15. Percentage of tuberculosis cases reported in persons deprived of liberty, Region of the Americas, 2019



Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

7.2. Indigenous populations

Indigenous populations in the Americas have social determinants that involve an increased risk of TB. These populations concentrate a significant proportion of all TB cases in certain countries, such as Guatemala (30%) and Belize (27%). On the contrary, it is striking that countries such as Nicaragua, Peru, and Brazil only report 1% of their TB cases in this population (figure 16).

22



Figure 16. Percentage of people with tuberculosis who identify as indigenous, Region of the Americas, 2019

Percentage of total number of cases reported

Note: The percentage indicated is out of the total number of cases reported.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at:

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

7.3. Children under 15 years of age

In 2019 it was estimated that there would be 16,000 cases of TB in children under 15 years of age (5% of total estimated cases). However, only 10,151 cases were reported (figure 17), indicating that there is still important work to be done with this vulnerable population.



Note: The 0-4 and 5-14 age groups do not include reporting from Colombia, Nicaragua, Trinidad and Tobago, or Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, as these countries do not differentiate which cases are in children under 15 years of age in their reports to WHO. TB: tuberculosis. Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Of the 16,148 contacts of TB patients studied in children under 5 years of age in 2019, only 59% were started on preventive therapy. Among these contacts, 359 cases of TB were diagnosed (figure 18).



Figure 18. Contacts under 5 years of age who are being tested for tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019

TB- tuberculosis

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

7.4. Risk factors for tuberculosis

The risk of TB infection is influenced by social determinants, such as socioeconomic conditions at the population level, and by individual risk factors, such as tobacco use and drug or alcohol addiction (figure 19). Thus, these factors must be addressed through intersectoral and interprogrammatic work, especially in the area of mental health.

24

Figure 19. Percentage of tuberculosis cases reported in people with risk factors, Region of the Americas, 2019



TB: tuberculosis.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.



Addressing the situation of TB in vulnerable populations and the existing risk factors demands the development and strengthening of specific strategies, at all levels, using an interprogrammatic and intersectoral approach.

25

8. Tuberculosis preventive therapy

Progress has been made in the administration of preventive TB treatment in contacts under 5 years of age in some countries, such as Trinidad and Tobago, Costa Rica, Colombia, Honduras, and Bolivia (Plurinational State of), where it was administered to 100% of them in 2019. However, the regional average is only 59% among countries that have this information, and some of these countries have very low percentages (figure 20).



Figure 20. Proportion of contacts under 5 years of age who were started on preventive therapy, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: Only reporting countries are included.

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

Among the new HIV cases reported in 2019, 25.8% received TB preventive therapy. Although the percentage has improved compared with 2018, it is still very low (figure 21).





Note: Only reporting countries are included. TB: tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus. *Source:* World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

In 2019, the Region's percentages of preventive therapy administration remained low: 59.0% in contacts under 5 years of age, and 25.8% in persons living with HIV. It is essential to accelerate efforts to achieve a rate of 100% in these populations, expanding to household contacts over 5 years of age and other risk groups, to reduce transmission and new cases of TB.

27

9. Tuberculosis treatment outcomes

According to the 2019 figures, success rates varied in the different treatment cohorts reported: Although they are higher in those under 15 years of age (80.6%) and in new patients and relapses (75.6%), they are still not optimal. The percentage of deaths remains high among co-infected patients (19.6%), as does that of patients lost to follow-up in most groups, especially among the retreatment group.

Paradoxically, the number of patients with XDR-TB lost to follow-up is less than that of patients with MDR/ RR-TB, due to the efforts made by Peru–which has the highest number of cases of XDR-TB in the Region– through a special strategy that provides patient-centered care in these cases (figure 22).



Treatment success for drug-susceptible TB was 75.6% in the 2018 cohort, and has not improved over the past five years. There is a need to analyze within countries the causes of TB mortality and of patients lost to follow-up, and to establish strategies to address these problems.



Figure 22. Outcome of tuberculosis treatment in selected cohorts, Region of the Americas, 2019

Note: The cohort evaluated for drug-susceptible TB is from 2018, and the cohort for drug-resistant TB is from 2017. TB, tuberculosis; MDR-TB: multidrug-resistant tuberculosis; XDR-TB: extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. *Source:* World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at:

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

10. Towards the elimination of tuberculosis in the Americas

PAHO is committed to supporting the countries of the Region in accelerating the implementation of the End TB Strategy, to make the Region of the Americas the first in the world to achieve the elimination of TB as a public health problem. The path to elimination involves moving from low incidence to pre-elimination (figure 23).

Figure 23. Path towards tuberculosis elimination



At present, there are 14 countries in the group with a low incidence of tuberculosis (\leq 10 cases per 100,000 inhabitants). These countries have the opportunity to be the first to move towards TB elimination (table 7). Eventually, all the countries of the Region must follow this path.

29

Countries	Estimated no. cases	Estimated rate per 100,000 population		
Costa Rica	510	10.1		
Curaçao	12	7.3		
Cuba	730	6.4		
Canada	2,100	5.6		
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	5	4.5		
Saint Lucia	7	3.8		
Jamaica	94	3.2		
United States of America	9,800	3.0		
Grenada	3	2.7		
Saint Kitts and Nevis	1	1.9		
Aruba	2	1.9		
Puerto Rico	41	1.4		
Antigua and Barbuda	0	0.0		
Barbados	0	0.0		
Total	13,305	3.4		
Region of the Americas	290,000	28.7		

Table 7. Countries with a low incidence of tuberculosis, Region of the Americas, 2019

Source: World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131.

31

11. Funding to end tuberculosis

The countries of the Region of the Americas earmarked USD 307 million in TB prevention and control funds for 2019, 74% of which corresponded to national resources. That same year, there was a 17% gap between what was budgeted and the funding actually received. The Global Fund is reducing its contribution in the Region from \$41.3 million in 2018 to \$26.4 million in 2020 (figure 24). Countries must increase resources to accelerate interventions to end TB.



Figure 24. Planned funding sources for tuberculosis prevention and control, Region of the Americas, 2015–2020

USD: United States dollars. Source: National TB control programs.

12. Recommendations to accelerate progress towards ending tuberculosis in the Americas

The following recommendations to the countries of the Region—based on the information collected, consolidated, and analyzed—aim to accelerate interventions on the path to ending TB:

32

- 1. Improve or accelerate the application and expansion of early diagnosis, with new rapid molecular tests.
- 2. Ramp up contact tracing and the search for TB cases.
- 3. Ensure access to TB preventive therapy, mainly for contacts under 15 years of age and people living with HIV, and extend this to all household contacts and other risk groups.
- 4. Increase TB diagnosis in children and accelerate the introduction of dispersible pediatric drugs.
- 5. Accelerate the implementation of new oral treatment schemes for MDR/RR-TB.
- 6. Strengthen interventions on the social determinants of TB and with vulnerable populations, through interprogrammatic and intersectoral activities focused on people and communities.
- 7. Cover existing funding gaps, increasing domestic resources and reducing dependence on external funds, to ensure sustainability.
- 8. Implement the multisectoral accountability framework to facilitate the achievement of international targets and commitments.

Annex. Priority indicators by country

Country/Subregion	Tuberculosis treatment coverage*	Treatment success rate		Percentage of TB-affected families facing catastrophic TB costs	Percentage of new TB patients diagnosed using WHO-recommended rapid tests	LTBI treatment coverage		Contact tracing coverage	DST coverage for TB patients	Treatment coverage, new TB drugs	Percentage of TB patients who know their HIV status	TB case fatality rate
	2019	New and relapsed cases (2018)	MDR/RR- TB 2017	2019	2019	Under 5 years 2019	HIV 2019	2019	2019	2019	2019	2017
Antigua and Barbuda	No reported c	ases										
Argentina	88.0%	53.6%	38.9%		9.1%				17.6%	9.0%	17.0%	5.9%
Aruba	100.0%				100.0%			100.0%	0.0%		0.0%	
Bahamas	86.4%	72.3%						29.9%	100.0%		86.3%	
Barbados	No reported cases											
Belize	91.0%	66.7%			89.0%				85.7%		91.2%	
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	62.2%	81.3%	54.5%		66.8%	100.0%		94.7%	0.0%	2.0%	89.1%	
Brazil	87.0%	71.0%	57.3%		34.2%			63.5%	44.7%	3.0%	79.6%	7.0%
Canada	91.0%	78.0%									51.2%	
Chile	88.2%	72.6%	48.0%		24.2%		3.0%	83.0%	90.4%	41.0%	84.3%	13.7%
Colombia	79.4%	74.1%	44.0%		25.0%	100.0%	2.3%	16.9%	22.7%	1.0%	94.6%	8.2%
Costa Rica	79.4%	88.0%	75.0%		11.9%	100.0%	3.0%	5.0%	100.0%		97.3%	9.1%
Cuba	87.1%	82.4%	55.6%		27.0%		78.6%	100.0%	67.4%		100.0%	5.9%
Curaçao	No data											
Dominica	83.3%	100.0%						30.0%	25.0%		100.0%	
Dominican Republic	79.8%	76.4%	57.7%		40.0%	36.4%	4.0%	51.1%	47.3%		87.8%	
Ecuador	80.4%				25.7%	73.5%	4.5%	88.6%	31.9%		83.7%	
El Salvador	79.2%	90.7%	81.3%		44.9%		58.5%		27.6%		96.1%	8.3%
Grenada	100.0%	50.0%			66.7%				100.0%		100.0%	0.0%
Guatemala	80.8%	88.4%	41.3%		42.7%		18.8%		69.9%	9.0%	94.2%	7.8%
Guyana	80.2%	72.0%	33.3%		73.2%		54.2%	63.1%	89.0%		86.5%	

TUBERCULOSIS IN THE AMERICAS

Country/Subregion	Tuberculosis treatment coverage st	Treatment success rate		Percentage of TB-affected families facing catastrophic TB costs	Percentage of new TB patients diagnosed using WHO-recommended rapid tests	LTBI treatment coverage		Contact tracing coverage	DST coverage for TB patients	Treatment coverage, new TB drugs	Percentage of TB patients who know their HIV status	TB case fatality rate
	2019	New and relapsed cases (2018)	MDR/RR- TB 2017	2019	2019	Under 5 years 2019	HIV 2019	2019	2019	2019	2019	2017
Haiti	68.5%	82.3%	84.6%		41.4%		78.2%	90.4%	15.2%	56.0%	93.4%	
Honduras	80.8%	88.0%	47.6%		26.9%	100.0%	48.1%	52.7%	46.6%		95.1%	
Jamaica	79.8%	22.2%			66.7%			100.0%	100.0%		66.7%	
Mexico	79.0%	76.1%	63.2%		2.7%	57.5%		80.6%	4.0%	7.0%	76.1%	9.1%
Nicaragua	80.3%	86.9%	77.8%		32.0%	73.2%	46.4%	93.6%	41.0%		95.9%	5.5%
Panama	79.1%	82.3%	44.3%				35.7%		92.7%	71.0%	99.1%	12.2%
Paraguay	85.9%	67.4%	75.0%		20.0%	68.2%	5.4%	57.2%	50.8%	100.0%	84.9%	7.3%
Peru	81.4%	83.2%	61.7%		14.5%	68.1%	12.5%	88.8%	74.7%	8.0%	91.5%	4.4%
Puerto Rico	87.8%	72.0%			55.6%	50.0%		56.3%	96.8%	33.0%	100.0%	11.1%
Saint Kitts and Nevis	No data											
Saint Lucia	85.7%	100.0%			50.0%		0.0%	100.0%	16.7%		100.0%	
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	80.0%	33.3%			100.0%				100.0%		100.0%	
Sint Maarten	83.3%	80.0%			0.0%			66.7%				
Suriname	78.2%	86.8%			91.7%			99.7%	89.0%		102.3%	
Trinidad and Tobago	87.2%	64.4%	50.0%		62.8%	100.0%	0.6%		64.1%		81.2%	5.6%
United States of America	86.7%	79.4%	77.4%						91.4%		87.5%	0.0%
Uruguay	88.1%	71.9%	75.0%		37.7%	81.3%	6.7%	76.6%	78.0%		94.0%	6.7%
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	79.2%	84.5%	75.0%		3.3%	13.0%	1.2%	70.8%	7.7%		41.0%	0.0%
Region of the Americas	81.9%	75.6%	59.6%		24.9%	59.3%	25.8%	68.8%	40.5%	12.0%	79.5%	7.0%

LTBI: latent tuberculosis infection; WHO: World Health Organization; DST: drug susceptibility testing; TB: tuberculosis; MDR/RR-TB: multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus

34

This regional report on the situation of tuberculosis (TB) in the Americas contains information from 2019, provided by the countries of the Region through the World Health Organization TB data collection system. These data have been consolidated and analyzed at the regional level. In addition to presenting the epidemiological and programmatic situation of TB in the Americas, the report aims to raise awareness and to motivate and encourage all stakeholders in the prevention and control of this disease, to accelerate efforts towards TB elimination in the Region, and to achieve the targets of the End TB Strategy. The report records the Region's achievements, but also the gaps in the work being carried out in diagnosis, treatment, comorbidities, vulnerable populations, risk factors, and funding, among other issues. Based on the information presented, specific recommendations are provided for further progress.



525 Twenty-third Street, NW Washington, D.C., 20037 United States of America www.paho.org

